RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

5/18/2017 3:37 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Supreme Court No. 94516-1

Court of Appeals No. 34968-3-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ALICE LOPEZ, an unmarried woman,

Petitioner,

VS.

JPMORGAN CHASE & CO., a New York Company; JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NA, an Illinois National Association; DEUTSCHE BANK NATIONAL TRUST CO., a California Company; NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC., a Washington Corporation; and JOHN DOES 1-10,

Respondents.

APPELLANT LOPEZ'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

JAMES A. WEXLER, WSBA # 7411 Attorney at Law Attorney for Petitioner 2700 NW Pine Cone Drive

1. Issue of substantial public interest.

The Brown decision affects the way every non-judicial foreclosure proceeding in Washington is conducted. That decision is in direct and irreconcilable conflict with RCW 62A.3-310. This conflict must be resolved. Otherwise, over time, thousands of homeowners in Washington will be removed from their homes even though the foreclosing entity is foreclosing in violation of the mandatory requirements of RCW 62A.3-310. This case is of substantial public interest.

V ARGUMENT

1. The appellate court decision violates RCW 62A.3-310.

The appellate court ruled that the holder of a note secured by a deed of trust, regardless of note ownership, is the beneficiary of the deed of trust and is therefore entitled to enforce the deed of trust in the event of a default on the note. *Opinion*, at A-13. The court then affirmed the lower court ruling and dismissed Petitioner's appeal. This ruling defies RCW 62A.3-310² and common sense.

In relevant part, RCW 62A.3-310 reads as follows:

Effect of instrument on obligation for which taken.

- (b) Unless otherwise agreed and except as provided in subsection (a), if a note or an uncertified check is taken for an obligation, the obligation is suspended to the same extent the obligation would be discharged if an amount of money equal to the amount of the instrument were taken, and the following rules apply:
- (2) In the case of a <u>note</u>, <u>suspension</u> of the obligation <u>continues until dishonor of the note or until it</u>

² Neither *Brown* nor any of the other holder-of-the-note-is-entitled-to-foreclose cases precludes an argument based on RCW 62A.3-310. The issue was not addressed in *Brown*. In fact, the issue of RCW 62A.3-310's application to non-judicial foreclosures has never been addressed by any appellate court in this state. Thus, therefore, is a case of first impression.

<u>is paid</u>. Payment of the note results in discharge of the obligation to the extent of the payment.

(3) Except as provided in subsection (b)(4), if the check or <u>note</u> is <u>dishonored and</u> the <u>obligee of the</u> <u>obligation</u> for which the instrument was taken is the person <u>entitled to enforce</u> the instrument, the <u>obligee may enforce</u> <u>either</u> the <u>instrument or</u> the <u>obligation</u>. In the case of an instrument of a third person which is negotiated to the obligee by the obligor, discharge of the obligor on the instrument also discharges the obligation.

Under RCW 62A.3-310(b)(3), if the note is dishonored <u>and</u> the obligee of the obligation for which the note was taken as payment (the <u>owner</u> of the mortgage debt and note) is the person entitled to enforce the note (the holder of the note under the Washington Deeds of Trust Act [RCW 62A.3-301]), then the obligee of the obligation (the owner of the mortgage debt and note) may enforce <u>either</u> the note <u>or</u> the underlying mortgage debt.³

If, on the other hand, the owner of a mortgage debt and note <u>is not</u> the holder of the note, then the <u>owner</u> of the note and underlying debt <u>may</u> <u>not</u> enforce the note <u>or</u> the underlying mortgage debt.⁴ This result obtains because the lender is unable to declare the note dishonored because only the PETE can declare the note dishonored. And until the note is declared dishonored, the underlying mortgage debt remains <u>suspended!</u> RCW 62A.3-310(b)(2). The PETE is unable to foreclose because the PETE is not a party to the DOT contract and does not own any part of the note or the underlying mortgage debt for which the note is taken a payment.

Official Comment 3 to UCC § 3-310 makes the point very clearly:

3. Subsection (b) concerns cases in which an uncertified check or <u>a note</u> is taken for an obligation. The typical case is that in which a buyer pays for goods or services by giving the seller the buyer's personal check, or

³ Under the terms of the DOT, the underlying mortgage debt, not the note, is enforced by selling the property. A dishonored note is enforced by suing on the note.

⁴ This is one of the most basic, easy-to-understand concepts in the UCC, yet it has completely escaped the attention of Washington courts.

in which the buyer signs a note for the purchase price. . . . If the check or *note is dishonored*, the seller [lender sells the money the borrower purchases in a mortgage loan transaction] may sue on either the dishonored instrument [note] or the contract of sale [the DOT in a mortgage loan transaction] if the seller [BOA in this case] has possession of the instrument [note] and is the person entitled to enforce it. If the right to enforce the instrument is held by somebody other than the seller [Wells in this case], the seller [BOA] can't enforce the right to payment of the price under the sales contract [BOA can't enforce the DOT] because that right is represented by the instrument [the note] which is enforceable by somebody else [Wells]. Thus, if the seller [BOA] sold the note or the check to a holder and has not reacquired it after dishonor, the only right that survives is the right to enforce the instrument [the note].

(bracketed material added).

RCW 62A.3-310 denies a note holder that does not own the note it holds the right to foreclose. Such a note holder lacks a beneficial interest in the obligation secured – regardless of whether you believe the obligation is the note or the underlying mortgage debt. It should go without saying that such a noteholder has no right to enforce the security for the secured obligation.

Below, the Trust neither alleged nor proved it owned Plaintiffs' note. Consequently, the Trust has failed to allege or prove a legal basis for exerting rights under the DOT contract. The Trust's exercise of the right to foreclose is a violation of RCW 62A.3-310.

Neither the Washington Supreme Court nor any other court in this state has the authority to override RCW 62A.3-310 without explaining why that provision does not apply, or why the provision has a different application than a literal reading of its words indicates.

VI CONCLUSION

The violations of RCW 62A.3-310 made each of the documents prepared, executed, and implemented in this case an unlawful document.

Each Defendant's participation in the preparation, execution and implementation of the numerous false documents that have been prepared and executed in this case violated the DTA.

Respectfully submitted,

s/ James A. Wexler
James A. Wexler, WSBA 7411
Attorney for Petitioner