FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/16/2017 2:56 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 94516-1

Court of Appeals No. 34968-3-III

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### ALICE LOPEZ,

Appellant,

v.

JP MORGAN CHASE & CO., a New York Company; JPMORGAN CHASE BANK NA, an Illinois National Association; DEUTSCHE BANK NATIONAL TRUST CO., a California Company; NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC., a Washington Corporation; and JOHN DOES -10,

Respondents.

## JOINT ANSWER OF RESPONDENTS JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., DEUTSCHE BANK NATIONAL TRUST COMPANY AS TRUSTEE, AND NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC. TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

## I. INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's decision dismissing Petitioner Alice Lopez's claims for the reasons set forth in the Court of Appeals' decision and in Respondents' appellate briefs submitted below. In her Petition for Review (the "Pet."), Ms. Lopez presents one issue for review: whether the Court's decision in *Brown v. Department of Commerce*, 184 Wn.2d 509, 359 P.3d 771 (2015) conflicts with RCW 62A.3-310. Ms. Lopez provides no new argument or authority to challenge this Court's precedent in *Brown* or the Court of Appeals' application of *Brown* to the facts of this case, both of which concern settled rules of commercial law dealing with promissory notes and deeds of trust. Nor does she present any issue of constitutional dimension or of substantial public interest. To the contrary, the court performed its proper and ordinary duty in construing and applying Washington commercial and statutory law. The petition is without merit and should be denied.

### II. STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT

Respondents request that the Supreme Court decline to accept discretionary review of the unpublished decision in *Lopez v. JP Morgan Chase & Co., et al.*, Court of Appeals No. 34968-3-III (Apr. 18, 2017) ("Slip Op.").

## III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about November 29, 2004, Ms. Lopez executed the Note and Deed of Trust. (Clerk's Papers ("CP") 156-163, 165-192.) Washington Mutual Bank ("WAMU") was the beneficiary of the Deed of Trust. (CP 165-192.) On or about July 19, 2012, the Federal Deposit Insurance Company (the "FDIC"), as Receiver for WAMU, assigned the Deed of Trust to Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee for WAMU Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2005-AR6 ("Deutsche Bank" or the "Trust"). (CP 193.) On October 16, 2012, the Trust appointed Northwest Trustee Services, Inc. ("NWTS") as successor trustee for the Deed of Trust. (CP 232-234.)

Ms. Lopez defaulted on the Note and Deed of Trust by failing to make payments when due. (CP 154.) On or about August 28, 2015, NWTS recorded an Amended Notice of Trustee's Sale. (CP 194-198.) Ms. Lopez filed this action in Superior Court challenging the trustee sale on October 8, 2015. (CP 3.) She also sought a preliminary injunction to prevent the sale, which was originally scheduled for October 16, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ms. Lopez named "Deutsche Bank National Trust Co." as a defendant in this action. The correct party—*i.e.*, the holder of Ms. Lopez's Note—is Deutsche Bank solely in its capacity as Trustee for the Trust. (CP 154.)

(CP 48, 195.) The trial court denied her motion for preliminary injunction, and the Court of Appeals Commissioner denied her motion for discretionary review of that order. (CP 111; COA Case No. 48371-8-II, Ruling Denying Review.) Ms. Lopez's property was subsequently sold at the trustee sale. (Reported Proceedings ("RP") 5:14-16 (Feb. 12, 2016).)

The Trust and JPMorgan Chase N.A. ("Chase") filed a motion for summary judgment seeking to dismiss Ms. Lopez's claims, as did NWTS. (CP 201, 260.) The Trust presented the original Note, endorsed in blank, at the hearing as evidence that it was the holder of the Note. (RP 5:9-10 (Feb. 12, 2016).) The Trust argued that, as holder of the Note, it had authority to enforce the Deed of Trust and to foreclose on the property.<sup>2</sup> (CP 203-206.) The trial court subsequently granted Respondents' motions for summary judgment, and the Court of Appeals affirmed.<sup>3</sup> (CP 328, 330; Slip Op. at 12-13.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Trust and Chase presented other arguments to the trial and appellate courts that are not presented in Ms. Lopez's petition and, therefore, are not addressed herein.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Although the appeal was originally assigned to Division II, No. 48716-1-II, Division II transferred the case to Division III to expedite review pursuant to CAR 21(a).

## IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

The discretionary acceptance of a decision terminating review may only be granted based on the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Ms. Lopez contends that there is an issue of "substantial public interest." (Pet. at 6.) However, the record does not support her contention.

# B. Ms. Lopez Has Not Demonstrated that *Brown* Was Wrongly Decided.

Ms. Lopez argues that the appellate court erred in holding that the holder of a note secured by a deed of trust, regardless of note ownership, is the beneficiary of the deed of trust and, therefore, entitled to enforce the deed of trust in the event of default. (Pet. at 6.) She contends that the court's decision conflicts with RCW 62A.3-310, because, she argues, pursuant to RCW 62A.3-310(b)(2)-(3), a holder of a note cannot enforce the note unless it is also the owner of the note. (Pet. at 6-8.)

Ms. Lopez's position is not supported by the plain language of RCW 62A.3-310 or the official commentary for § 3-310 of the Uniform

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> It does not appear that Ms. Lopez properly preserved this argument. While she did argue on appeal that *Brown* was wrongly decided and that, to enforce a note through foreclosure, the holder of the note had to also be the owner of the note, she did not cite RCW 62A.3-310 in her opening brief and only referenced it in relation to other points in her reply brief. (*See* Lopez's Opening Br., TOA; Reply Br. at 6, 16, 17, 23.)

Commercial Code (the "UCC"), both of which make it clear that this provision applies generally to payment of an obligation by check (*i.e.*, a buyer's payment by check for goods to a seller). See UCC § 3-310 cmt. 3 ("Subsection (b) concerns cases in which an uncertified check or a note is taken for an obligation. The typical case is that in which a buyer pays for goods or services by giving the seller the buyer's personal check, or in which the buyer signs a note for the purchase price.").

Moreover, this Court did an extensive review of UCC, Article 3 in *Brown* and concluded that the holder of the note need not be the same as the owner of the note. This Court recognized that the "holder of the instrument" is the "person in possession of a negotiable instrument that is payable either to bearer or to an identified person that is the person in possession." 184 Wn.2d at 525 (quoting RCW 62A.1-201(21)(A)). It further held that the "holder of the instrument" is a "person entitled to enforce the note" (or the "PETE"). *Id.* at 526 (citing RCW 62A.3-301); see also Bain v. Metro. Mortg. Grp., Inc., 175 Wn.2d 83, 103-04, 285 P.3d 34 (2012) ("holder" of borrower's note is entitled to commence and prosecute non-judicial foreclosure). The Court stated that the holder of the note need not be the same entity as the owner of the note. Brown, 184 Wn.2d at 527-28.

Through article 3 and article 9, the UCC authorizes parties to split PETE status from ownership status in certain circumstances. The PETE may modify and enforce the note. The borrower pays the PETE to discharge the borrower's obligation. All the while, the owner retains entitlement to the economic value of the note.

Id. at 529. Applying Brown, other courts have also rejected arguments that a party must both own and hold the note to enforce it. See, e.g., Cummings v. Nw. Tr. Servs., 196 Wn. App. 1073 (table), 2016 Wash. App. LEXIS 2886 (2016) (unpublished opinion); Leonard v. Reconstruct Co., N.A., No. 15-5866-RJB, 2016 WL 304802, \*6 (W.D. Wash. Jan. 26, 2016). While Ms. Lopez may disagree with the Court's interpretation of the UCC in Brown, she provides no basis for overruling that decision. 5

In this case, the Trust established that it was the holder of the Note by presenting the original Note, endorsed in blank, at the summary judgment hearing. (RP 5:9-10 (Feb. 12, 2016).) Therefore, the trial court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Ms. Lopez argues that no appellate court has addressed RCW 62A.3-310's application to non-judicial foreclosures. (Pet. at 6 n.2.) That is not correct. The issue has been raised several times in briefs to the Court of Appeals and petitions to the Supreme Court. See, e.g., Worm v. Nw. Tr. Servs., 196 Wn. App. 1069 (table), 2016 Wash. App. LEXIS 2844, at \*9 (2016) (unpublished opinion) (considering and rejecting argument that RCW 62A.3-310 limits enforcement of obligations under note to person or entity owning note), review denied, 188 Wn.2d 1004 (2017); Cummings, 2016 Wash. App. LEXIS 2886, review denied, 188 Wn.2d 1006 (2017) (RCW 62A.3-310 discussed in Petition for Review).

and the Court of Appeals properly concluded that the Trust had the authority to enforce the Note through foreclosure. *See* Slip Op. at 13.

## V. CONCLUSION

For these reasons, Respondents respectfully request that the Court deny Ms. Lopez's petition for discretionary review.